2009-CP-00470-COAT

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

I, Appellant, Robert S. Parker, Pro Se by necessity, pursuant to M.R.A.P. 28(a)(1), certify that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and/or the judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- Brenda and David Murphy Tessecca Bliven's ("Bliven") parents who have an interest in the attorneys fees;
- Lisa M. Parker my wife who has stayed by my side through this case and my jailing; and,
- 3. Mississippi Department of Health and Human Services ("DHS") take my child support payments.

Statement of Issues						
Statement of the Case						
	Nature of the Case					
	Course of the Proceedings Disposition in the Trial Court					
	Statement of the Facts					
Summary of the Argument						
Argument						
I.		I have been deprived of liberty without due process and access to court because I could not afford an attorney				
II.	The (The Chancellor's 5/8/08 Order was wrong and unjust				
	A.		The Chancellor's finding of contempt and unclean hands on April 21, 2008 was wrong			
		1.	The order of \$300.00 per month was wrong and not based upon the MS Child Support Guidelines	33-35		
		2.	I did object to the amount of \$300.00	35-36		
		3.	There was a change in circumstances to get a reduction	36-37		
		4.	I paid "what I could" on the advice of my attorney, Ducker	37-38		

		5.	I was not in arrears on April 21, 2008	39-42	
		6.	The Chancellor failed to consider my evidence that I had paid	42-43	
		7.	The Chancellor used an outdated, incorrect financial statement to determine my current income	43-44	
		8.	The Chancellor failed to require the keeper of the record testify	44	
		9.	The Chancellor did not allow me to cross examine Sakalarios	45	
	В.	The Chancellor's order for me to be jailed on April 21, 2008 was wrong.		45-46	
	C.	The Chancellor was wrong in dismissing my July 31, 2007 and January 24, 2008, Petitions			
III.	The C	Chancellor's Judgment of February 25, 2009, was wrong			
Conclusion					
Certificate of Filing and Service					

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Klein v. McIntyre, 966 So.2d 1252 (Miss. 2007). Pages 22, 41.

Article 3, Section 14 of the Mississippi Constitution. Page 22.

Brown by & Through Webb v. Blackwood, 697 So.2d 763, 769 (Miss. 1997). Page 22.

Childers v. Childers, 717 So.2d 1279, 1281 (P8) (Miss. 1998). Pages 24, 28.

Weeks v. Weeks, 556 So.2d 348, 349-50 (Miss. 1990). Page 28.

Fortenberry v. Fortenberry, 338 So.2d 806 (Miss. 1976). Page 28.

Howard v. Howard, 968 So.2d 961 (Miss. 2007). Page 29.

Grissom v. Grissom, 952 So.2d 1023 (Miss. 2007). Page 29.

Article 3, Section 24 of the Mississippi Constitution. Page 29

Stuart v. Stuart, 956 So.2d 295 (Miss. 2006). Page 29

Section 43-19-101 of the Mississippi Code of 1972, as Amended. Pages 32-33.

Seely v. Stafford, 840 So.2d 111 (Miss. App. 2003). Page 34.

Samples v. Davis, 904 So.2d 1061 (Miss. 2004). Page 35.

Mizell, 708 So.2d at 64. Page 36.

Dickerson v. Horn, 50 So.2d 368 (Miss. 1951). Page 45.

Hooker v. Hooker, 205 So.2d 276 (Miss. 1967). Page 45.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I have been deprived of liberty without due process and access to court because I could not afford an attorney.
- 2. The Chancellor's May 8, 2008, Order was wrong and unjust.
- The Chancellor was wrong in dismissing my July 31, 2007 and January
 24, 2008, Petitions.
- The Chancellor was wrong in finding me to be in contempt of court on April 21, 2008.
- 5. The Chancellor was wrong in ordering me to be jailed on April 21, 2008.
- 6. The Chancellor's Judgment of February 25, 2009, was wrong.
- 7. Attorneys fees are wrong based on the facts of this case.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

NATURE OF THE CASE:

This case is about my right to time with my daughter and my fight to exercise this right in the courts. Because I could not afford an attorney, the courts denied my rights, dismissed my case, and took away my right to liberty by jailing me without a full and fair trial.

COURSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS:

Though I was paying child support without an order to do so, Bliven would not allow me to have any private time with my daughter. I asked her to go to mediation through DHS, which was free, but she refused and filed her Petition. Through Attorney William Ducker ("Ducker"), I got some time with my daughter and was told I had to pay \$300.00 in child support. I told Ducker I could not and he told me to get my taxes together and ask for a reduction. When I did this, I was told by DHS that I was in arrears and could not ask for a reduction. On July 31, 2007, Ducker filed for a reduction and for contempt by Bliven for denying time with my daughter and joint legal custody. There was a conference with the Honorable Sebe Dale, Jr., Chancellor, Lamar County Chancery Court ("the Chancellor") in December and Ducker told me that his Petition had been thrown out. I fired him. On January 24, 2008, after seeking help from the Father's Rights Advocacy Group ("the Group"), I filed a Petition to get more time with my daughter. Bliven answered and counter claimed trying to take my time with my daughter away and saying really bad things about me, my wife, our home, and my step-sons. In response, I filed a motion to strike to explain to the court the truth. Bliven filed a motion asking to dismiss my Petitions. Our motions were both set for hearing on April 21, 2008. There was a chambers conference and I tried to tell the Chancellor that I was not in arrears. The Chancellor did not read any of my papers. He and Bliven's Attorney, Sheila Smallwood ("Smallwood"), conducted a hearing on her affirmative defense about my child support arrears. I was intimidated and not allowed to present my documents or cross examine the DHS officer about my payments. The Chancellor said I was in contempt of court and ordered me to be jailed until I could pay the arrears. I did not have the money because it had already been taken from my IRS refund so my wife borrowed it from my grandmother and got me out of jail. DHS then had to refund the money I had paid.

DISPOSITION IN TRIAL COURT:

On April 21, 2008, the Chancellor gave a bench ruling and on May 8, 2008, issued an Order that said that my Petitions were dismissed. I asked to amend my January 24, 2008 Petition and the Chancellor sent me a letter stating that I could not. I appealed but my appeal was dismissed as premature because Bliven's counter complaint was still pending. On February 25, 2009, the Chancellor ordered that I pay \$2,500.00 in attorneys fees to Smallwood, giving a Final Judgment. I appealed from this final Judgment.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS:

- The "total monthly income" on my April 28, 2006, Financial Statement (Page 0022) is blank.
- 2. Section IV of the May 9, 2006 Temporary Order (Page 0030) states that I shall pay \$300.00 per month "in compliance with the Child Support Guidelines set forth in Section 43-19-101 of the MS Code".

- 3. The July 10, 2006 DHS Notice of Redirection of Child Support Payments (Page 0033) states that all future support payments made payable to the custodial parent "are to be redirected to the MS Department of Human Services, Central Receipting and Disbursement Unit."
- 4. Paragraph IV of the April 26, 2007 Judgment of Paternity, Support and Other Relief (Page 0045) states "the parties shall share joint legal custody".
- 5. Paragraph IV(g) of the April 26, 2007 Judgment (Page 0046) states "The Father shall have such other reasonable visitation with the minor child as can be mutually agreed upon by the parties . . ."
- 6. Paragraph "IV" of the April 26, 2007 Judgment of Paternity, Support and Other Relief (Page 0047) states "Robert S. Parker shall continue to pay the sum of \$300.00 per month . . . in compliance with the Child Support Guidelines . . . and shall be paid through the Lamar County Chancery Clerk's office along with their customary fee."
- 7. The "Agreed to Form and Consent" on the April 26, 2007 Judgment (Pages 0048 and 0049) shows that Ducker was not present when the Judgment was signed.
- 8. Paragraph III of the July 31, 2007, Respondent's Petition for Modification (Page 0054) states "the \$300.00 per month child support continues to accrue and the Respondent is not financially able to pay that amount at this time. . . ."
- 9. Paragraph V of the July 31, 2007, Respondent's Petition for Modification (Page 0054) states "Petitioner is actually in contempt of this Court because of her failure to allow visitation as prescribed by prior Judgment. . . That the parties have joint

- legal custody and the Court should order the Petitioner to place Respondent on the school pickup list."
- 10. The Total Monthly Income on the July 27, 2007 Exhibit "A" (Page 0058) states \$2,519.00.
- 11. The Expense Statement on the July 27, 2007 Exhibit "A" (Page 0059) states business expenses that were to be deducted from the total monthly income to for my true income.
- 12. Paragraph 7 of the January 24, 2008 Petition of Robert Parker to Modify Custody and Visitation (Page 0070) states "There has been a permanent, material and substantial change of circumstances requiring that the previous Judgment be modified. . . . the Petitioner allows such other visitation rarely, sporadically and completely at her discretion. . . . The present visitation schedule does not allow for the amount of time needed for the child to know and bond with her father as an equal parent".
- 13. Paragraph 7© of the January 24, 2008 Petition (Page 0071) states "Petitioner is pregnant again, with no husband, and is having/ will have difficulty taking care of Gabrielle while pregnant and when her new child is born. A more equal sharing of parental responsibilities would be in the best interest of all parties."
- 14. Paragraph 7(d) of the January 24, 2008 Petition (Page 0071) states "Petitioner has failed to comply with the existing Judgment's requirements for joint legal custody."
- 15. Paragraph 10 of the January 24, 2008 Petition (Page 0073) states "Respondent is presently ordered to pay the sum of \$300.00 per month in child support, and

- requests that the Court modify the child support in accordance with the state guidelines should the Court grant the request for modification of visitation. A revised and updated Personal Financial Statement is attached as Exhibit "B"."
- 16. Section II(8) of the January 24, 2008 Exhibit B Personal Financial Statement (Page 0078) states "other income: Self-employment Parker's Contracting: 992.16".
- 17. Section II(10) of the January 24, 2008 Exhibit B Personal Financial Statement (Page 0078) states "Total monthly income: 992.16".
- 18. Section II(11) of the January 24, 2008 Exhibit B Personal Financial Statement (Page 0078) states "Net monthly pay: 992.16".
- 19. Affirmative Defense No. 2 of the February 29, 2008 Answer to Petition of Robert Parker to Modify Custody and Counter-Complaint for Contempt and Modification (Page 0084) states "Robert Parker comes into Court with unclean hands and is currently behind in child support in the amount of \$450.00 and therefore is barred from seeking any relief based on his current and ongoing contempt."
- 20. Paragraph VI of the February 29, 2008 Answer (Page 0086) states "Lamar County DHS has intervened to the extent necessary to collect past due support including interception of Robert Parker's tax refund for child support arrearage. A copy of the Affidavit of Accounting will be produced prior to a trial on this matter."
- 21. Paragraph X of the February 29, 2008 Answer (Page 0086) states "Robert filed for a Modification requesting a reduction in child support on July 31, 2007 which was not addressed by this Honorable Court in a conference held in Marion

- County Chancery Courthouse on December 6, 2007 due to improper service on the Defendant. Further, Robert Parker cannot meet the test for a modification".
- 22. Paragraph V of the February 29, 2008 Counter-Complaint for Contempt and Modification (Page 0089) states "Robert is in willful and contumacious contempt . . . the Lamar County DHS has had to intercept Robert's income taxes due to his delinquency in child support."
- 23. Paragraph VI of the February 29, 2008 Counter-Complaint (Page 0089) states
 "Tessecca request of this Honorable Court to incarcerated Robert in the Lamar
 County Regional Jail Complex until such time as Robert becomes current on his
 child support along with all court cost, interest and attorneys fees."
- 24. Paragraph VIII of the February 29, 2008 Counter-Complaint (Page 0090) states "requests of this Honorable Court to modify Robert's visitation to exclude overnight visitation and to require that the visitation be supervised. . . . to appoint a guardian ad litem at the expense of Robert Parker to investigate the environment in which Gabby is place during her period of visitation."
- 25. Paragraph XI of the February 29, 2008 Counter-Complaint (Page 0091) states "That based on the contempt of Robert Parker, Tessecca is entitled to attorneys fees in the amount of \$2,500.00".
- 26. Page 8 of my March 20, 2008 Memorandum (Page 0126) states "He (Ducker) informed my wife how to fill out the Financial Statement for 'self-employed income' and then filed the Petition for Modification on July 30, 2007."
- 27. Page 41 of my March 20, 2008 Memorandum (Page 0153) states "Respondent currently awaits a joint income tax refund for the year 2007 in the amount of

\$4,429.00 to his credit on or about April 1 (See Exhibit "W"). DHS has indicated that it will take a lien for arrears from this income tax refund, and Respondent's wife has agreed to waive her right to the 'injured spouse rule,' so as to expedite payment of the arrears to Petitioner as soon as possible thereafter. Thus, by the time of this hearing on April 21, there will be no arrears, making Petitioner's allegation that Respondent is in willful and contumacious contempt of the April 21, 2007 Judgment moot."

- 28. The October 24, 2006 Child Support Order Review Determination/ Challenge Request (Page 0162) states "You do not meet the criteria for a review of your child support order at this time. . . . You must be current with your child support."
- 29. The June 25, 2007 Tower Loan letter to the Chancellor (Page 0164) states "Robert S. Parker has made application to our company for an increase on the principal balance of Mortgage Loan No. 63500 to pay child support arrears to current."
- 30. The June 26, 2007 Ducker letter to Smallwood (Page 0180) states "Enclosed please find what is a good faith effort on behalf of my client to catch up all the arrearage of which he owes. . . . It is my intent to get him caught up and then file a Petition for Modification to reduce it, because Robert's income is about half of what it was at this time last year."
- 31. My July 16, 2007 letter to DHS (Page 0190) states "attached is a copy of the letter from the IRS Financial Management Service. . . . The IRS' EFT to DHS in the amount of \$1,376.92 needs to be applied to this case as soon as possible to satisfy

- the major part of this Judgment . . . Please take whatever action is necessary to ensure that this amount is applied to this Case ID as soon as possible."
- 32. The July 13, 2007 Department of the Treasury, Financial Management Service letter to me (Page 0192) states "we applied all or part of your Federal payment to a debt you owe. Forrest Department of Human Services, Attention: Child Support, purpose: child support, . . . amount to this creditor: \$1,376.92. . . . We will forward the money taken from your Federal payment to the agency to be applied to your debt balance".
- 33. The September 19, 2007 DHS letter to me and Access and Visitation Program

 Questionnaire (pages 0195-6) confirm my attempts to get Bliven to participate in

 free mediation services to resolve our problems with "contact or parenting time,

 communication between parents, and education."
- 34. The October 17, 2007 DHS letter to me (Page 0202) confirms that Bliven did not complete her survey and refused mediation, "our office was informed by Ms.

 Tessecca Bliven that visitation was not an issue."
- 35. The November 14, 2007 email from my wife to Ducker's office (Page 0204) states "The last time the IRS sent tax money to DHS, it 'floated' and took some time, despite my efforts to expedite it, to get the money into Tess' account."
- The January 24, 2008 Noncustodial Parent Review of Child Support Order (Page 0216) confirms my continued attempts to obtain a reduction through DHS.
- 37. The March 3, 2008 letter from DHS to me (Page 0221) states "The review of your child support order resulted in no change being made in the amount of your child support obligation. The reason for this decision is: CURRENTLY BOTH

- PARTIES ARE REPRESENTED BY PRIVATE ATTORNEYS AND THERE IS COURT ACTION PENDING."
- 38. Paragraph V of the March 24, 2008 Response to Motion to Compel and Motion to Dismiss (Page 0228) "would incorporate by reference all the affirmative defenses set forth in her Answer and Counterclaim including . . . that Parker comes into Court with unclean hands and is currently behind in child support in the amount of \$600.00 and therefore is barred from seeking any relief based on his current and ongoing contempt".
- 39. My June 6, 2008 Affidavit (Page 0311) states "On Saturday, April 19, 2008, I received the attached April 17, 2008, letter and Request to Release IRS Joint Tax Refund from Francis Pearce, Supervisor III, Child Support Enforcement, Forrest County DHS . . . letter and Request were provided to the Honorable Judge Sebe Dale, Jr. and opposing counsel in a mandated meeting in chambers prior to the hearing on April 21, 2008, but were not allowed by Judge Dale to be introduced into the record."
- 40. The April 17, 2008 Pearce letter to me (Page 0313) states "This form must be completed if you are requesting that your income tax interception be released before the 6 month required waiting period. . . . I understand that Mrs. Parker is not going to file an injured spouse claim".
- 41. The Request to Release IRS Joint Tax Refund (Page 0314) is signed by my wife and notarized by the Lamar County Clerk of Court on April 21, 2008.

- 42. My August 4, 2008 Statement of Evidence (Pages 0345 and 0346) document the proof I was not in arrears provided to the Chancellor and Smallwood in the chambers conference prior to the hearing.
- 43. The March 21, 2008 Department of the Treasury, Financial Management Service, Notice (Page 0352) documents that \$897.00 of my 2007 joint income tax refund was applied to my debt to the MS Department of Human Services, Jackson MS, in payment of my child support.
- 44. My March 24, 2008 letter to DHS (Page 0354) sent the IRS notice and asked DHS to "take whatever action is necessary to ensure that this amount is applied to this case ID as soon as possible as there are currently court proceedings pending".
- 45. My March 23, 2009 Statement of Evidence (Pages 0388 and 0389) documents "I told Judge Dale I was not behind in my child support on April 21, 2008. I told him the DHS Affidavit of Accounting he used was not complete. I told him that I was holding a copy of the DHS check refunding my IRS interception just days after I had been put in jail for being 'in arrears'. I told him that I was not in contempt on that day. I also told him there had been prior IRS interceptions, and by asking for attorneys fees for reading my paperwork, Attorney Smallwood knew of the pending IRS interception on that day."
- 46. Paragraph II(c)(2) of my April 7, 2008 Memorandum in Opposition to Motion to Dismiss (Page 0475) states "at the time of the hearing on April 21, Respondent will not be in arrears. In fact, Respondent's 2007 Federal Income Tax refund posted to his account on March 21 and a lien for the arrears, in the amount of \$892.00, was withheld by the IRS from his refund and sent to DHS to satisfy their

- lien. (See Exhibit B). Accordingly, Respondent is not in arrears and he cannot be found to be in contempt or to have 'unclean hands'.... Respondent has at all times attempted to inform this Court, DHS, Bliven, and Smallwood... of his financial circumstances which caused the arrears to occur in the first place and to obtain a downward modification".
- 47. In the Official Transcript of the April 21, 2008 hearing (Page 5, line 25), I testified "I've paid what I could."
- 48. In the Official Transcript (Page 6, lines 4-17), when asked why I had not paid my "full" child support as "ordered by this court", I testified "Because it was unjustly given to me without financial statements on me. It was a blank financial statement. . . . I objected in the courtroom that I could not, but my attorney at the time said that's what the Judge had handed down and that's what I had to pay. I told him right then that I could not pay it. He said, get your financial statement together. Bring it back in, and then we'll do a remodification of it. He did not let me know that once I got in the arrears at that time there was no coming back on it. You had to stay. Then they changed the rule that says I can come forward even being in the arrears, but I am no longer in the arrears."
- 49. In the Official Transcript (Page 7, lines 5-26), when asked if the July 31, 2007

 Financial Disclosure was true and correct, I testified "I do not remember signing it or filling it out. . . . this is an inaccurate financial statement. . . . I filed amended returns with my tax returns that reflect differently. I did not know what my true income was at the time until I did a true financial statement, and I have that in my file if you would like that."

- 50. In the Official Transcript (Page 10, lines 17-23), when asked if I agreed with the affidavit of accounting arrearage amount of \$1,047, I testified "No, ma'm, I do not. . . . Because it's paid and it's moot."
- In the Official Transcript of the April 21, 2008 hearing (Page 10, lines 24-29, page 11, lines 1-3), when asked if I had proof that it had been paid and whether the child's mother had received all of the money she was entitled to, I testified "Yes, ma'am, I do. It's been paid. Whether she's received it or not, I'm not sure. DHS keeps money in a Jackson account that revolves around until someone pulls it out. The money is paid and it's in there. I have the records showing it."
- 52. In the Official Transcript (Page 11, lines 4-10), Smallwood stated "If it is paid you are indicating that it's been withheld from your taxes; is that right?" I testified "some of it withheld from my taxes. As always when I would get in arrears for paying an amount that I could not pay when my taxes would come in, they would take the money. That's why we've been trying to file for a reduction of child support based on my true income."
- In the Official Transcript (Page 11, lines 11-13), Smallwood confirmed her knowledge of the DHS IRS interception procedure by stating "And last year your taxes were intercepted as well to pay child support, weren't they?" I testified "Yes, ma'am, they were."
- 54. In the Official Transcript (Page 14, lines 10-29, page 11, lines 1-9), Amanda Sakalarios, Lamar County DHS officer ("Sakalarios"), testified that she was "not the keeper of the record. The proper person to testify as to the contents of the record keeping of the money would be possibly a supervisor. Francis Pierce, the

supervisor for Forrest County, is available to testify in the office. I could call her. She's ready to come up and testify if you need to hear from her. I can say that's what this is, you know, what she's asking me. I can say, yes, this is the affidavit of accounting. Yes, I did bring this from the office. Yes, they did sign and notarize it, but that's the extent to what I can . . . I would not be the proper person to be testifying."

- 55. In the Official Transcript (Page 15, lines 17-23), on the Court receiving into evidence the DHS affidavit of accounting, Sakalarios further testified "I just wanted to clarify that." The Court stated "I understand that. You are not the keeper of the record." Sakalarios replied "Yes, sir. I just wanted to make that clear."
- In the Official Transcript (Page 15, lines 27-29), Smallwood misled the court regarding the DHS affidavit of accounting by stating "that's all the questions I have for her. I think the document speaks for itself."
- In the Official Transcript (Page 16, lines 3-25), I tried to cross examine Sakalarios about the pending IRS interception "to show her this document here and see if this is the lady she is referring to that has the power to say what needed to be said." The Court did not allow me cross examination of Sakalarios before the DHS Affidavit was entered as evidence.
- 58. In the Official Transcript (Page 19, lines 6-10), Smallwood asked for me to go to jail stating "If I may, Judge, I am requesting that Mr. Parker be incarcerated as a result of his contempt until he fully purges himself of that contempt."

59. In the Official Transcript (Page 19, lines 11-26), Smallwood stated "It has taken me hours to read these 50 page memorandum opinions, . . . Based on his contempt, I would ask that he be required to pay those fees."

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

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