IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

No. 2009-CP-00470-COA

ROBERT S. PARKER

v.

TESSECCA BLIVEN

APPELLANT

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF LAMAR COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

SHEILA H. SMALLWOOD, MB Post Office Box 933 Petal, Mississippi 39465 (601) 450-2323

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

No. 2009-CP-00470-COA

ROBERT S. PARKER

٧.

TESSECCA BLIVEN

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The constitutional rights of Robert S. Parker were not violated at any time during these proceedings. The Petitions Robert filed on July 31, 2007 and January 24, 2008, were properly dismissed on the Defendant's affirmative defense of unclean hands. The issues on appeal are limited to the findings set forth in the trial Court's <u>Judgment of the Court</u> entered on February 25, 2009 as indicated in the Notice of Appeal filed on March 23, 2009. Therefore, the only issue for consideration by this Court is whether or not the award of attorney fees was proper. The proof presented at the hearing on April 21, 2008, through testimony and documentary proof was sufficient to find Robert in contempt for his failure to pay child support. That incarceration for the civil contempt was an appropriate directive based on the contempt finding. Also, the award of attorney fees in the amount of \$2,500.00 was proper based on the finding of contempt. Finally, this Court should award an additional \$1,250.00 in attorney fees based on the defense of this appeal.

ARGUMENT

A chancery court's finding of fact will generally not be overturned on appeal unless they are found to be manifestly wrong. *Webster v. Webster*, 2008-CA-00518-COA, ¶6 (August 25, 2009) <u>citing Fancher v. Pell</u>, 831 So.2d 1137, 1140 (Miss. 2002). An appellate court "will not disturb the findings of a chancellor unless the chancellor was manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous or an erroneous legal stand was applied". *Webster* at ¶6, <u>citing R.K. v. J.K.</u>, 946 So.2d 764,772 (Miss. 2007). Further, the Chancellor's finding of civil contempt is subject to review under a manifest error standard. *Chasez v. Chasez*, 957 So.2d 1031, 1035 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007), <u>citing</u> *Dennis v. Dennis*, 824 So.2d 604, 608 (Miss. 2002).

I. WHETHER THE CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS OF ROBERT S. PARKER WERE VIOLATED BASED ON HIS CLAIM THAT HE COULD NOT AFFORD AN ATTORNEY AND HIS CLAIM THAT HIS DUE PROCESS RIGHTS WERE VIOLATED.

There is no constitutional right to counsel in civil matters, including child support contempt matters. *Goodin v. Dep't of Human Servs.*, 772 So.2d 1051, 1055 (Miss. 2000). The Mississippi Supreme Court has rejected a Defendant's argument that a chancellor should not have heard a petition for contempt for failure to pay child support without appointing counsel to represent him. *Goodin* at 1055. However, parties do have a constitutional right to appear *pro se* in civil actions, including family law matters. Miss. Const. Art. III § 24. A *pro se* litigant is also bound by the same rules of practice and procedure as an attorney. *Bullard v. Morris*, 547 So.2d 789, 790 (Miss. 1989). In this case, Robert retained counsel that represented him initially in the matter and a Judgment **(a)**. at 29) was entered requiring the payment of child support. That Judgment was entered in April 27, 2007, after a conference with the Judge and an agreement was reached to the terms set forth therein. That initial Judgment was never appealed nor modified. Therefore, Robert has waived the right to fully litigate these issues and he should not be allowed to re-litigate them on appeal. *Chasez* at 1037, *citing Askew v. Askew*, 699 So.2d 515, 520 (Miss. 1997).

Robert also claims that his constitutional due process rights have been violated pursuant to Article 3, Section 24 of the Mississippi Constitution and the Court's ruling in *Stuart v. Stuart*, 956 So.2d 295 (Miss. 2006). The *Stuart* case is not applicable. The trial Court denied Mr. Stuart's due process argument because his speedy trial argument applies only in criminal cases. The Court found this argument not only devoid of merit, but absolutely frivolous. *Stuart* at 300. In the case at hand, Robert had notice of the contempt proceedings set forth in the Answer and

-6-

Counterclaim filed by Tessecca and had an opportunity to be heard during the hearing held on April 21, 2008. This satisfies the constitutional requirements of due process. Further, these due process violations where never raised in the lower court and thus not preserved for appeal, therefore this issue is not proper for appeal. *See Dennis v. Dennis*, 824 So.2d 604, 611 (Miss. 2002).

II. WHETHER THE ISSUES SET FORTH IN ROBERT S. PARKER'S BRIEF THAT ARE OUTSIDE THE FEBRUARY 25, 2009 ARE PROPERLY BEFORE THE COURT BASED ON THE NOTICE OF APPEAL.

Rule 3 (c) of the Mississippi Rules of Appellate Procedure requires that the notice of appeal specify the party against whom the appeal is taken and designate "as a whole or in part the judgment or order appealed from". The Notice of Appeal ®. at 379) filed by Robert on March 23, 2009, seeks an appeal from the Judgment dated February 25, 2009. The only contested issue set forth in that Judgment was the grant of attorney fees in the amount of \$2,500.00. All other issues had been resolved as stated in the February 25, 2009 Judgment and the letter that Robert forwarded to counsel opposite on December 16, 2008, indicating that "[a]s far as I am concerned, this matter has been resolved in the best interests of all involved". (Appellee's R. E. #1). As such, the only issue that is properly before the Court is the award of attorney fees. All other issues cannot be considered since they are outside the scope of review by the appellate court. This Court has previously found that issues not contained in the judgment designated for review in the notice of appeal were not properly before the court and refused to hear them on appeal. Conservator of Elridge v. Sparkman, 813 So.2d 753, 755 (Miss, Ct. App. 2001). Only the issue of attorney fees should be reviewed and considered by this court with all other issues set forth in Robert's appeal dismissed.

-7-

III. WHETHER THE COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING THE PETITIONS FILED BY ROBERT PARKER UNDER THE THEORY OF UNCLEAN HANDS.

Tessecca, in her Answer and Counterclaim, set forth the affirmative defense of unclean hands. Mississippi courts recognize this doctrine and have upheld its application in barring those responsible for paying child support from receiving a downward modification. The Court in *Seely v. Stafford*, 840 So.2d 111 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003), applied the clean hands doctrine to bar modification by a father who was behind in his child support obligation. Additionally, the court of appeals affirmed the application of the doctrine to bar modification by a father who promptly filed a modification petition, but failed to pay support after the filing. *Kelley v. Day*, 965 So.2d 749, 757 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007); see also *Hunt v. Asanov*, 975 So.2d 899, 902-03 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008) (finding that the doctrine of unclean hands bars payor in willful contempt from seeking downward modification). Therefore, based on the applicable case law and authority, the doctrine of unclean hands is alive and well and thus the Chancellor's dismissal of the prior Petitions based on Robert's child support delinquency was proper.

IV. WHETHER THE CHANCELLOR MADE A PROPER FINDING OF CONTEMPT FOR THE FAILURE OF ROBERT S. PARKER TO PAY HIS MONTHLY CHILD SUPPORT OBLIGATION.

The Mississippi Code Annotated provides that whenever child support is more than thirty days delinquent a judgment by operation of law shall arise against the obligor in an amount equal to all payments that are then due and owing. *Miss. Code Ann.* §93-11-71 (1) (2004). Further, court ordered child support payments vest in the child as they accrue and may not thereafter be modified or forgiven, only paid. *Varner v. Varner*, 588 So.2d 428, 434 (Miss. 1991). Robert claims through his appeal that he should not have been held in contempt because the Lamar County Department of Human Services exercised their unique ability to seize his tax refund to

satisfy his arrearage amount under Miss. Code Ann. §43-19-31(h)(2004). However, the proof of the arrearage amount was entered into evidence at the April 21, 2008 hearing. It consisted of the Affidavit of Accounting prepared and sworn to by the Lamar County Department of Human Services as of the date of the hearing reflecting the proper arrearage amount of \$1,047.00 (See Trial Exhibit 3). The evidence is clear that Robert failed to pay his child support obligation in a timely manner. In fact, he testified under direct examination that his taxes had been intercepted in prior years for his failure to pay support. He states "[a]s always when I would get in arrearswhen my taxes would come in, they would take the money" (Tr. at 11). To accept Robert's argument that an intercepted tax refund prevents a finding of contempt would set a dangerous precedent. That holding would actually encourage nonpayment of child support in lieu of allowing tax refunds be intercepted since that course of action would come without the consequences that a contempt action can bring. Clearly the proof presented was sufficient to find Robert in contempt for his failure to pay child support.

V. WHETHER THE CHANCELLOR ERRED IN HIS DECISION TO INCARCERATE ROBERT S. PARKER BASED ON HIS FINDING OF CIVIL CONTEMPT.

Pursuant to the transcript, the lower court held that:

"[I] find him in contempt of court, order the sheriff to take him into custody, and place him in the common jail or other appropriate place of confinement there to remain until he purges himself of contempt by the payment of that which is due and owing of his child support" (Tr. at 22)

This finding of civil contempt was granted to secure Robert's compliance with the previous child support order. The law provides that a finding of civil contempt may be punished by fines or imprisonment. Certainly the Chancellor was within his discretion to incarcerate

Robert and require that he pay his support obligation in full prior to his release. <u>See Moulds v.</u> Bradley, 791 So.2d 220, 224 (Miss. 2001); Newell v. Hinton, 556 So.2d 1037,1044 (Miss. 1990); Davison v. Dep't. Of Human Servs., 938 So.2d 912, 915-916 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006).

VI. WHETHER THE AWARD OF ATTORNEY FEES TO COUNSEL FOR TESSECCA BLIVEN WERE PROPER.

Based on the contempt finding, the Court in this matter awarded Tessecca's attorney fees in the amount of \$2,500.00. The amount of attorney fees awarded by the lower court was limited since Tessecca's Counter Complaint sought that amount specifically, despite the fact that counsel for Tessecca had expended approximately \$7,612.50 in time and fees associated with the review and response to the overwhelming amount of pleadings in this case. Tessecca was unable to pay those additional fees, thus the work performed on her behalf after the initial retainer was depleted has been on a pro bono basis along with the time and expense associated with the reply to this appeal and the previous appeal. A party who successfully prosecutes a contempt action is entitled to attorneys' fees without regard to inability to pay. Morreale v. Morreale, 646 So.2d 1264, 1271 (Miss, 1994). Further, the Court has held that when a party is held in contempt for violating a valid judgment of the court, then attorney's fees should be awarded to the party that has been forced to seek the court's enforcement of its own judgment. Elliot v. Rogers, 775 So.2d 1285, 1290 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000). That based on the lower court's finding of contempt against Robert for his failure to pay child support, the award of attorney fees in the amount of \$2,500.00 was proper.

VII. WHETHER OR NOT ADDITIONAL ATTORNEY FEES SHOULD BE AWARDED TO COUNSEL FOR TESSECCA BLIVEN BASED ON THE DEFENSE OF THE APPEAL.

That if the Court finds that the assessment of attorney fees was proper, the Court should

assess an additional amount equaling one-half of what was awarded in the lower court pursuant to the findings in *Lauro v. Lauro*, 924 So.2d 584, 592 (Miss.Ct. App. 2006). Therefore, Tessecca seeks an additional amount of attorney fees in the amount of \$1,250.00 plus costs.

<u>CONCLUSION</u>

For the foregoing reasons, the Chancery Court of Lamar County properly found Robert Parker in contempt for his failure to pay child support. As a result of the finding of contempt, the Chancellor's incarceration of Robert Parker was appropriate and not manifest error . Further, the award of attorney fees based on the contempt finding were proper. As a result of the appeal, Tessecca should be awarded an additional \$1,250.00 in attorney fees.

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED,

Mal luoor

SHEILA H. SMALLWOOD, MBN

SHEILA H. SMALLWOOD, PA P. O. BOX 933 PETAL, MS 39465 (601) 450-2323